

Egyptian Journal of Anaesthesia



ISSN: (Print) 1110-1849 (Online) Journal homepage: https://www.tandfonline.com/loi/teja20

Fluid therapy: Too much or too little

Mohammed Ezzat Moemen

To cite this article: Mohammed Ezzat Moemen (2010) Fluid therapy: Too much or too little, Egyptian Journal of Anaesthesia, 26:4, 313-318, DOI: <u>10.1016/j.egja.2010.06.001</u>

To link to this article: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egja.2010.06.001





Egyptian Society of Anesthesiologists

Egyptian Journal of Anaesthesia

www.elsevier.com/locate/egja www.sciencedirect.com



Review Article

Fluid therapy: Too much or too little

Mohammed Ezzat Moemen

Department of Anaesthesia and Intensive Care, Faculty of Medicine, Zagazig University, Zagazig, Egypt

Received 10 June 2010; accepted 28 June 2010

KEYWORDS

Endothelium; Glycocalyx; Third-space; Blood transfusion; Anemia **Abstract** There is much debate regarding the amount of perioperative fluid administration in relation to patient outcome.

Fluid shifting towards the interstitial space is of two types (physiologic and pathologic) across the vascular endothelial membrane. This membrane, of 1 µm thickness, is formed of an endothelial layer coated by glycocalyx, a small concentration of albumin, and a non-circulating part of plasma. It acts as a gateway to the interstitial space with a primary molecular filler function, generating an effective molecular filler function, generating an effective molecular gradient across its thickness. Since the early sixties, perioperative fluid requirements were calculated by considering pre-existing deficits, maintenance volumes, and third-spaces loss, depending on the type of surgery. Based on this, a goal-directed "liberal" fluid approach was modulated. On the other hand, a "restrictive" fluid approach was later suggested to achieve better patient outcome. Extremes of either approach were shown to induce hyper- or hypovolemia, respectively. However, there are no clear definitions to describe the volume status of patients.

The literature is currently characterized by inconsistency and contradiction regarding patient outcome parallel to perioperative "too much" or "too little" fluid administration. There is no single fluid regimen which provides optimal fluid volumes to all surgical patients all the times.

E-mail address: ezzatmoemen@yahoo.com URL: http://www.ezzatmoemen.com

1110-1849 © 2010 Egyptian Society of Anesthesiologists. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V. Open access under CC BY-NC-ND license.

Peer review under responsibility of Egyptian Society of Anesthesiologists. doi:10.1016/j.egja.2010.06.001



Production and hosting by Elsevier

M.E. Moemen

So, available literature is discussed in this article with an early evidence of a preferred "adequate" rather than a "liberal" or a "restrictive" fluid approach.

Further systematic reviews of randomized controlled trials are recommended to predict the volumes and types of administered fluids, and its timing as important determinants of postoperative patient outcome. Special evidence is also needed for "liberal" versus "restrictive" hemoglobin therapy to determine the same goals.

© 2010 Egyptian Society of Anesthesiologists. Production and hosting by Elsevier B.V.

Open access under CC BY-NC-ND license.

Contents

| 1. | Background | 314 |
|----|---|-----|
| 2. | Fluid administration | 315 |
| 3. | Fluid therapy: too much or too little | 315 |
| 4. | The "liberal" approach | 315 |
| 5. | The "restrictive approach" | 315 |
| 6. | A preliminary evidence of "adequate" approach | 316 |
| | Hemoglobin therapy: too much or too little | |
| 8. | Conclusions | 317 |
| 9. | Key-points | 317 |
| | Acknowledgment | 317 |
| | References | 317 |

1. Background

There is much debate regarding the amount of perioperative fluid administration in relation to patient outcome.

Regarding healthy individuals, perioperative fluid requirements are well-established for different age groups, as avoiding excessive fluid loss or administration provides successful homeostasis [1].

Regarding critically-ill patients, perioperative fluid therapy is complex, as there may be much fluid deficits with impaired capacity to maintain homeostasis. Some complicating factors include comorbidities, systemic inflammation, increased anti-diuretic hormone liberation, together with disturbances in the rennin-angiotensin system, and the atrial natriuretic peptide. So, the perioperative outcome of critically-ill patients may be linked with the volumes of perioperative fluid administration [2,3].

The intravascular fluid compartment in the normal adult comprises two-thirds of total body water. The remaining one-third designates the extracellular compartment, consisting of plasma and interstitial fluid, where water and small solutes can easily exchange for cell nutrition. This physiological distribution of fluids is maintained by biological membrane barriers and oxygen – consuming ion pumps.

According to Ernest Starling [4], the hydrostatic pressure in blood vessels is high, as is the colloid osmotic pressure. The interstitial fluid contains low amounts of protein with low hydrostatic pressure. A small net amount of fluid and protein shifts out of the blood vessels all the time, and returns to the intravascular space by the lymph vessels.

The relation between the interstitial space and the so-called third-space needs to be clarified. The third-space is divided into two components; anatomical and non-anatomical. The anatomical component represents the functional interstitial space, allowing physiologic fluid shifting across the intact vascular

barriers. As long as it is quantitatively managed by the lymph system, a physiologic shift does not cause interstitial edema [5]. The non-anatomical component is a non-functional one, separated from the interstitial space. Examples are the peritoneal cavity and the traumatized tissues. A non-functional third-space component does not normally exist [6]. If it pathologically exists, it is not in equilibrium with the functional component, being anatomically separated [7].

Fluid shifting towards the interstitial space is of two types. Type 1 is a physiologic shifting occurring across a healthy biological barrier. Type 2 is a pathologic shifting due to lymph vessels destruction by surgery, or endothelial damage by inflammation, increasing vascular permeability [8].

So, it is mostly the condition of the biological membrane that counts in the fluid shifting process.

The healthy biological vascular barrier is coated by the endothelial glycocalyx, consisting of proteoglycans and glycoproteins. It is considered the natural gateway to the interstitial space [7]. It is bound with a small concentration of albumin [9], and 700–1000 ml of plasma fixed within the endothelial surface layer [10], to form a functional thickness of about 1 μ m [11]. This non-circulating part of plasma volume is in dynamic equilibrium with the circulating part. The presence of such a healthy vascular membrane maintains a barrier to prevent excessive fluid shifting [9]. It acts as a primary molecular filter, and generates an effective oncotic gradient across its thickness [4].

The biological membrane prevents leukocyte and platelet adhesion, against both inflammation and edema formation [8]. Its destruction allows transcapillary fluid shifting to equalize hydrostatic and oncotic pressures between blood and tissues leading to a catastrophe [7]. This implies, perioperatively, that the endothelial biological barrier should be preserved to inhibit a pathological type 2 fluid shifting into the interstitial space. Diminution of destruction of the membrane can improve its integrity.

Treating vasodilatation caused by anesthesia with colloids, ignores the fact that the intravascular volume expansion is expected to terminate at the end of surgery, with restoration of the vascular tone. Relative hypervolemia follows [12], and the kidney is not of much help in this situation due to its reduced excretory capacity [13]. Such hypervolemia may induce glycocalyx damage [14].

With this background, anesthetists and intensivists must apply art as well as science to adapt fluid regimens in order to optimize fluid therapy, because adherence to a fixed regimen may be a recipe for disaster [15].

2. Fluid administration

According to current knowledge, perioperative fluid administration must replace two kinds of fluid loss:

- Positive loss in the form of insensible perspiration and urine, and a negative deficit due to preoperative fasting.
 The preoperative fasted patient is considered hypovolemic due to these losses [16]. So, preoperative volume loading is considered mandatory by many [17–20].
- Loss of blood due to trauma and surgery, which should be replaced by blood and plasma transfusion.

Since the early sixties, fluid management is calculated by considering pre-existing deficits, maintenance requirements, and replacement of loss depending on mild, moderate, or major surgery. A practice of large amounts of fluid administration was established to replace third-space loss.

Recently, it is suggested that for management of type 1 physiologic fluid shifting, crystalloids should be used to replace insensible perspiration and urine loss, while colloids are used to substitute blood loss [7]. There is no rationale to replace blood loss with a three- or fourfold volumes of crystalloids. Nor is there evidence to increase crystalloid infusion rate when patients are clinically hypovolemic during surgery [7]. For management of type 2 pathologic shifting, the biological barrier should be protected. To achieve such a goal, atraumatic surgical techniques with minimal lymph vessels destruction, neuro-axial anesthetic blockade to reduce the stress response, and trying to avoid hypervolemia are to be considered.

3. Fluid therapy: too much or too little

Some authors advocate "liberal" or high volume fluid administration [18,21–24], while others advocate "restrictive" or low volume fluid administration [17,25,26]. At present, perioperative "too much" versus "too little" fluid administration is an issue for scientific evidence.

4. The "liberal" approach

Perioperative "liberal" fluid approach includes fluid preloading before establishment of anesthesia to counteract drug-induced vasodilatation, high intraoperative fluid volumes, with not uncommon positive fluid balance in the postoperative period [27].

The "liberal" approach aims to optimize total blood volume. To assess the volume status of patients, a wide range of clinical (e.g. capillary refill), physiological (e.g. heart rate, urine

output), and biochemical (acid-base deficits, lactate levels) parameters are useful. Commonly used continuous parameters as circulating and filling pressures do not correlate with the volume status [28].

However, blood volume responsiveness, occasionally referred to as goal-directed approach [7], can be achieved by stroke volume variations [29], or esophageal Doppler-guided intravenous fluid boluses [7]. But, it is impossible to apply the latter to an awake patient [7]. The goal-directed approach, aiming for supranormal oxygenation, proposes that increased oxygen delivery (>600 ml/min/m²) targeted by high cardiac output ($> 4.5 \text{ L/min/m}^2$) is the most significant factor in determining lower morbidity and reduced length of hospital stay [30]. But, excessive fluid overload was shown to encourage edema formation, anastomotic leaks, coagulation factors dilution, and prolonged hospital stay [17], against previous beliefs that accumulation of fluids in the tissues was harmless [31], and that hypervolemia induced minor problems [32]. According to such beliefs, unpredictable fluid shifts towards the thirdspace required generous fluid substitution [33].

The global goal-directed haemodynamic fluid approach has been challenged by a regional splanchnic-directed fluid approach aiming to normalize the intramucosal pH [34]. We suggested a combined global and regional fluid approach, as both sides of the coin, for resuscitation in severe sepsis and septic shock, with satisfactory patient outcomes [35,36].

A study in 1990 concluded that postoperative fluid overload is not a benign problem. This is because infusion of large amounts of crystalloids, and if necessary blood products, has proved to be followed by postoperative weight gain that correlates with mortality. In patients who gained <10% of body weight, mortality was 10%. In patients who gained 10-20% of body weight, mortality was 32%. In those who gained > 20% of body weight, mortality was 100% [37]. What is actually puzzling is that in 2004, an important randomized, doubleblind study including 16 ICU populations in Australia and New Zealand, compared Saline versus Albumin Fluid Evaluation (SAFE) for resuscitation, but with similar mortality outcome at 28 days. The study concluded that both saline and albumin should be considered clinically equivalent treatment for intravascular volume resuscitation in a heterogenous patient population in the ICU [38].

5. The "restrictive approach"

Some authors applied a "restrictive" low volume fluid approach during the management of their patients [17,24,25]. Fluid restriction was sometimes estimated as 10% less volumes than the standard [39].

The "restrictive" fluid approach was shown to induce postoperative hypovolemia and reduced tissue perfusion with or without shock [17,24,25]. This might be due to depriving patients from their actual needs of fluids. However, Matol et al. appraised the "restrictive" approach to reduce postoperative morbidity and hospital stay [40].

On the other hand, a careful comparison of different study protocols showed that many "restrictive" approaches actually represented "adequate" fluid "substitution", exhibited by hemodynamic stability [17]. This might be true because the extracellular deficit after the usual preoperative fasting proved to be negligible [41], and the basal fluid loss via insensible peri-

M.E. Moemen

spiration or urine production proved not to exceed 1 ml/kg/h during major abdominal surgery [42].

It remains to be clear that we are in actual need for evidencebased guidelines for perioperative fluid administration [43].

6. A preliminary evidence of "adequate" approach

Holte et al. [44] compared "liberal" versus "restrictive" Ringer Lactate administration during laparoscopic cholecystectomy, a minimally invasive surgery. They found that an intraoperative "liberal" approach of approximately 3 L of Ringer Lactate (40 ml/kg over 1.5 h starting from induction of anesthesia), significantly improved perioperative organ functions and recovery with shortened hospital stay. They also suggested that an intraoperative "restrictive" regimen of approximately 1 L of Ringer Lactate (15 ml/kg over 1.5 h starting from induction of anesthesia), resulted in postoperative functional hypovolemia. In the same direction, a gynecological laparoscopy study reported decreased postoperative nausea and vomiting, when using intraoperative "liberal" versus "restrictive" Ringer Lactate regimen [45].

Holte et al. [46] carried out a further study to investigate whether their previously demonstrated improved patient outcome after "liberal" fluids during laparoscopic cholecystectomy, could be due to avoidance of postoperative hypovolemia. A volume kinetic analysis of identical pre- and postoperative volume loads of Ringer Lactate (12.5 ml/kg), was the method used to prove the presence or absence of postoperative hypovolemia. The technique of volume kinetic analysis offers a method to prove that the body strives to maintain volume homeostasis of fluid spaces [47]. The model proved effective for evaluating perioperative fluid shifting, and for distinguishing normovolemic versus hypovolemic conditions [48]. Using this model, Holte et al. [46] proved the absence of hypovolemia after intraoperative "restrictive" fluid administration. They concluded that the differences in functional outcome between the two fluid regimens could be attributed to the minimally invasive surgery – per se rather than being influenced by the amount of intraoperative fluid administration. However, as a conclusion of a systematic review of 80 randomized controlled trials (RCTs), Holte and Kehlet [49], have recommended "avoiding fluid overloading during major surgical procedures". So, a role of anesthesia and surgery per se – was suggested to affect patient outcome [46]. Previous studies found significantly decreased clearance of infused crystalloids during and immediately after several types of anesthesia (epidural, spinal, isoflurane, and propofol) [50-53] and surgery (thyroid, gall-bladder, and colon) [53–55] due to activation of stress hormones prompting fluid retention. In all such conditions, fluid elimination would be much slower during and immediately after the actual anesthetic or surgical procedures. In a RCT, although there was non-significant differences in 60 days morbidity, a neutral fluid balance was associated with improved lung function and shortened duration of mechanical ventilation [56]. Earlier studies and earlier clinical guidelines suggested benefits associated with a net even approach to fluid therapy [57].

It is clear through some studies that the "adequate" fluid therapy by "substitution" is of value, rather than the "liberal" or the "restrictive" approach [46,56,57]. It may be also clear through the SAFE study that patient outcome is similar after administration of either albumin 4% or saline [38]. It may be

clear again that surgery – per se, or anesthesia – per se may have a finger-print on patient outcome, rather than the volumes or types of administered fluids.

7. Hemoglobin therapy: too much or too little

Blood transfusion is a commonly performed medical procedure in hospitalized patients. However, this life-saving strategy is not without risks including transfusion-transmitted infections and immunomodulating effects that may increase the risk of nosocomial infections and possibly the development of autoimmune diseases later in life [58].

The conventional "transfusion trigger" of a hemoglobin (Hb) level of 10 g/dl and hematocrit (Hct) of 30% has been recently challenged. The minimum tolerable level of Hb is not well-established, and considerable variations exist in transfusion practice.

Patients with acute anemia in the preoperative period or if critically-ill, have been shown to need blood transfusion with Hb < 6 g/dl and not to need blood transfusion with Hb > 10 g/dl [59].

Packed red blood cells (PRBCs) are used to increase the Hb concentration and improve the oxygen carrying capacity of the blood. A unit of PRBCs of 250–300 ml and Hct of 60–80% increases the Hb level by 1 g/dl and the Hct by 3–4% in an average sized adult. Clinical factors needed to perform blood transfusion include the cause of anemia, its severity and acuity, and the patient ability to compensate. Transfusion is not routinely needed in patients with chronic anemia or cancer unless it is expected to improve their exercise fitness.

Limited data are available on patient outcome with transfusion therapy regarding a "liberal" or a "restrictive" approach.

A systematic review including 10 RCTs compared outcomes with a "liberal" (transfusion trigger of 9–10 g/dl Hb) versus a "restrictive" (transfusion trigger of 7–9 g/dl Hb) preoperative transfusion strategy [60]. Another meta-analysis of 35 RCTs, observational and experimental studies identified "liberal" and "restrictive" approaches of 10–12 g/dl and 7–9 g/dl, respectively [61]. In both situations, the "liberal" approach was associated with increased adverse clinical outcome, while the "restrictive" approach was associated with decreased adverse clinical outcome including lower morbidity and mortality (M/M) and shorter length of hospital stay. They support the use of the "restrictive" strategy in patients free of serious cardiac diseases, although an increased incidence of complications was reported at very low Hb levels, in agreement with other studies [62,63].

The Transfusion Requirements In Critical Care (TRICC) investigators found that a "restrictive" approach was associated with lower morbidity in critically-ill patients, with the conclusion that the "restrictive" approach is as effective or even superior to the "liberal" one [64]. Other authorities showed that Hb "transfusion trigger" of 7 g/dl had no negative impact on M/M, either in the general ICU patients or in patients with coexisting cardiac diseases [64,65]. In patients with coexisting cardiac disease, however, higher postoperative Hb trigger of 8 g/dl was justified, given the likelihood of postoperative tachycardia and compromised oxygenation [59].

Perioperative blood transfusion therapy in hospitalized patients could be withheld as long as a patients Hb level remained at 7 g/dl or higher, and the patient was not actively bleeding [60]. On the other hand, patients with cardiac diseases might need to

increase their Hb threshold to 10 g/dl or higher to raise their oxygen carrying capacity and to improve their quality of life [60].

8. Conclusions

It may be concluded that an "adequate" rather than a "liberal" or a "restrictive" perioperative fluid approach may represent the gateway to improved patient outcome. An "adequate" approach implies a careful "substitution" of fluid deficits, losses, and needs, because the body normally strives to maintain its volume homeostasis.

Blood should be transfused for all patients with Hb < 6 g/dl and not to be transfused for any patient with Hb > 10 g/dl. Transfusion of blood may be withheld as long as a patient's Hb remains at 7 g/dl or higher, and he is not actively bleeding. A blood "transfusion trigger" may be 9–10 g/dl for a patient with cardiac disease to raise his oxygen carrying capacity. Further systematic reviews of RCTs are needed for evidence-based perioperative fluid regimens, including Hb therapy.

9. Key-points

- After the ongoing controversy on colloids versus crystalloids, the main focus is now on the amount of applied fluids in general.
- Perioperative blood volume is normal (after replacement of blood loss), because losses following fasting, urine formation, and insensible perispiration are negligible, and a third-space is non-existent.
- A distinction should be made between type 1 (physiologic) and type 2 (pathologic) fluid shifting, that should be treated accordingly. Crystalloids physiologically load the interstitial space. Colloid loading may induce hypervolemia with destruction of glycocalyx, a vital part of the biological membrane.
- A successful plan should address the right kind of fluids, in appropriate amounts, at the right time to reduce the endothelial barrier damage.
- An "adequate" or "substitution" rather than a "liberal" or a "restrictive" fluid approach might be the proper gateway to improve patient outcome.
- Blood transfusion should be withheld in patients with non-cardiac diseases and who are not actively bleeding, so long as their Hb is 7 g/dl or higher. Patients with cardiac diseases need a "transfusion trigger" of 9–10 g/dl to raise their oxygen carrying capacity.
- Further systematic reviews of RCTs are needed to formulate evidence-based guidelines for perioperative fluid management.

Acknowledgment

Professor Nigel R. Webster (the Institute of Medical Sciences, Foresterhill, Aberdeen, UK) deserves my gratitude for reviewing the text and giving valuable suggestions.

References

[1] Holte K, Jensen P, Kehlet H. Physiologic effects of intravenous fluid administration in healthy volunteers. Anesth Analg 2003;96:1504–9.

- [2] Moller AM, Pedersen T, Svendsen PE, et al.. Perioperative risk factors in elective pneumonectomy: the impact of excess fluid balance. Eur J Anaesthesiol 2002;19:57–62.
- [3] Sun X, Iles M, Weissman C. Physiologic variables and fluid resuscitation in the postoperative intensive care unit patients. Crit Care Med 1993;21:555–61.
- [4] Hu X, Weinbaum S. A new view of Starling's hypothesis at the micro-structural level. Microvasc Res 1999;58:281–304.
- [5] Joles JA, Rabelink TJ, Braam B, et al.. Plasma volume regulation: defences against edema formation (with special emphasis on hypoproteinemia). Am J Nephrol 1993;13:399–412.
- [6] Jacob M, Chappell D, Rehm M, et al.. The "third space": fact or fiction? Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol 2009;23:145–57.
- [7] Chappell D, Jacob M, Kiefer KH, et al.. A rationale approach to perioperative fluid management. Anesthesiology 2008;109:723–40.
- [8] Pries AR, Kuebler WM. Normal endothelium. Handb Exp Pharmacol 2006;1:1–40.
- [9] Jacob M, Brusgger R, Rehm M, et al.. The endothelial glycocalyx affords compatibility of Starling's principle and high cardiac interstitial albumin levels. Cardiovasc Res 2007;73;575–86.
- [10] Nieuwdrop M, Van Haefen TW, Gouveneur MC, et al.. Loss of endothelial glycocalyx during acute hyperglycoma. Diabetes 2006;55:480–6.
- [11] Bruegger D, Jacob M, Loetsch M, et al.. Atrial natriuretic peptide induces shedding of endothelial glycocalyx in coronary vascular bed of guinea pig hearts. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2005;289:1993–9.
- [12] Arieff AI. Fatal postoperative pulmonary edema: pathogenesis and literature review. Chest 1999;115:1371–7.
- [13] Desborough JP. The stress response to trauma and surgery. Br J Anaesth 2000;85:109–17.
- [14] Rehm M, Haller M, Orth V, et al.. Changes in blood volume and hematocrit during acute preoperative volume loading with 5% albumin or 6% hetastarch before radical hysterectomy. Anesthesiology 2001;95:849–56.
- [15] Duncan AW. Fluid therapy art or science? (Editorial). Anaesth Intensive Care 2010;38:239–40.
- [16] Johnston WE. Fluid restriction in cardiac patients for noncardiac surgery is beneficial. Anesth Analg 2006;102:340–3.
- [17] Nisanveich V, Feisenstein J, Almogy G, et al.. Effect of intraoperative fluid management on outcome after intraabdominal surgery. Anesthesiology 2005;103:25–32.
- [18] Maharaj CH, Kallam SR, Malik A, et al.. Preoperative fluid therapy decreases postoperative nausea and vomiting in high risk patients. Anesth Analg 2005;100:675–82.
- [19] Coe AJ, Revanes B. Is crystalloid preloading useful in spinal anesthesia in the elderly? Anaesthesia 1990;45:241–3.
- [20] Sear JW. Kidney dysfunction in the postoperative period. Br J Anaesth 2005;95:20–32.
- [21] Holte K, Sharrock NE, Kehlet H. Pathophysiology and clinical implications of perioperative fluid excess. Br J Anaesth 2002;89:622–32.
- [22] Jacob M, Chappell D, Rehm M. Clinical update: perioperative fluid management. Lancet 2007;369:1984–6.
- [23] Boldt J, Duke M, Kumle B, et al.. Influence of different volume replacement strategies on inflammation and endothelial activation in the elderly undergoing abdominal surgery. Intensive Care Med 2004;30:416–32.
- [24] Warrillow SJ, Weinberg L, Parker F, et al.. Perioperative fluid prescription, complications, and outcomes in major elective open gastrointestinal surgery. Anaesth Intensive Care 2010;38:251–65
- [25] Brandstrup B, Tonnesen H, Beier-Holgersen R, et al.. Effects of iv fluid restriction on postoperative complications: comparison of two perioperative fluid regimens. A randomized assessorblinded multicenter trial. Ann Surg 2003;238:641–8.

M.E. Moemen

- [26] Mackay G, Fearon K, McConnachie A, et al.. Randomized clinical trial of the effect of postoperative fluid restriction on recovery after elective colorectal surgery. Br J Surg 2006;93:1469–74.
- [27] Lassen K, Soop M, Nygran T, et al.. Enhanced recovery after surgery: review of optimal perioperative care in colorectal surgery. Arch Surg 2009;144:961–9.
- [28] Santosh Patel, Tej K. Kaul (Editorial). Fluid therapy during major bowel surgery. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol 2010;26:1–2.
- [29] Solus-Biguenet H, Fleyfel M, Tavernier B, et al.. Non-invasive prediction of fluid responsiveness during major hepatic surgery. Br J Anaesth 2006;97:808–16.
- [30] Spahn DR, Chassot PG. Fluid restriction for cardiac patients during major non-cardiac surgery should be replaced by goaldirected intravascular fluid administration. Anesth Analg 2006;102:344–6.
- [31] Haugen O, Farstod M, Kvalheim V, et al.. Elevated flow rate during cardiopulmonary bypass is associated with fluid accumulation. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2007;134:587–93.
- [32] Watenpaugh DE, Yancy CW, Buckey JC, et al.. Role of atrial natriuretic peptide in systemic responses to acute isotonic volume expansion. J Appl Physiol 1992;73:218–26.
- [33] Kaye AD, Kucera AJ. In: Miller RD, editor. Fluid and electrolyte physiology. Anaesthesia. 6th ed. Philadelphia: Churchill Livingstone, 2005. p. 1763–98.
- [34] Corke CF, Prisco G, Gizyck P, et al.. A simple method for frequent monitoring of gastric carbon dioxide. Anaesth Intensive Care 1996;24:590–3.
- [35] Omran ShA. Tissue oxygenation guided resuscitation in patients with sepsis. Thesis (MD) in anaesthesia and intensive care, faculty of medicine, Zagazig University October 2001, Egypt.
- [36] Moemen ME. Prognostic categorization in systemic sepsis. Eg J A 2003;19:183–94.
- [37] Lowell JA, Schifferdecker P, driscoll DF, et al.. Postoperative fluid overload: not a benign problem. Crit Care Med 1990;18:728–33.
- [38] The SAFE (Saline versus Albumin Fluid Evaluation) study Investigators. A comparison of albumin and saline for fluid resuscitation in the intensive care unit. N Engl J Med 2004;350:2247–56.
- [39] Rahari Ni, Zimmermann J, Schmidt T, et al.. Meta-analysis of fluid administration in colorectal surgery. Br J Surg 2009;96:331–41.
- [40] Matol I, Nisanevich V, Einavs, et al. Effect of intraoperative fluid management after intra-abdominal surgery. Anesthesiology 2005;103:A343.
- [41] Jacob M, Chappell D, Conzen P, et al.. Blood volume is normal after preoperative overnight fasting. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand 2008;52:522–9.
- [42] Lamke LO, Nilsson GE, Reithner HL. Water loss by evaporation from the abdominal cavity during surgery. Acta Chir Scand 1977;143:279–84.
- [43] Holte K, Hahn RG, Ravn L, et al.. Influence of «liberal» versus «restrictive» intraoperative fluid administration on elimination of a postoperative load. Anaesthesiology 2007;106:75–9.
- [44] Holte K, Klarskov B, Christensen D, et al.. Liberal versus restrictive fluid administration to improve recovery after laparoscopic cholecystectomy: a randomized, double-blinded study. Ann Surg 2004;240:892–9.
- [45] Magner JJ, McCaul C, Carton E, et al.. Effect of intraoperative intravenous crystolloid infusion on postoperative nausea and vomiting after gynaecological laparoscopy: comparison of 30 and 10 ml/kg. Anaesthesia 2004;93:381–5.
- [46] Holte K, Robert G Hahn, Lisbet Ravn, et al. Influence of "liberal" versus "restrictive" intraoperative fluid administration on elimination of a postoperative fluid load. Anesthesiology 2007;106:75–9.

- [47] Svensen C, Hahn RG. Volume kinetics of Ringer solution, dextran 70, and hypertonic saline in male volunteers. Anesthesiology 1997;87:204–12.
- [48] Farstod M, Haugen O, Rynning SE, et al.. Fluid shift is moderate and short-lived during acute crystalloid hemodilution and normothermic cardiopulmonary bypass in piglets. Acta Anesthesiol Scand 2005;49:949–55.
- [49] Holte K, Kehlet H. Fluid therapy and surgical outcomes in elective surgery: a need for reassessment in fast-track surgery. J Am Coll Surg 2006;202:971–89.
- [50] Holte K, Foss NB, Svensen C, et al.. Epidural anesthesia, hypotension, and changes in intravascular volume. Anesthesiology 2004;100:281–6.
- [51] Hahn RG, Resby M. Volume kinetics of Ringer's solution and dextran 3% during induction of spinal anaesthesia for caesarean section. Can J Anaesth 1998;45:443–51.
- [52] Braner KL, Svensen C, Hahn RG, et al.. Volume kinetic analysis of the distribution of 0.9% saline in conscious versus isoflurane-anesthetized sheep. Anesthesiology 2002;96:442–9.
- [53] Ewaldsson CA, Hahn RG. Kinetics and extravascular retention of acetated Ringer's solution during isoflurance or propofol anesthesia for thyroid surgery. Anesthesiology 2005;103:460–9.
- [54] Alsson J, Svensen CH, Hahn RG. The volume kinetics of acetated Ringer's solution during laparoscopic cholecystectomy. Anesth Analg 2004;99:1854–60.
- [55] Senagore AJ, Stulberg JJ, Byrnes J, et al.. A national comparison of laparoscopic versus open colectomy using the National Surgical Quality Improvement Project Data. Dis Colon Rectum 2009;52:183–6.
- [56] Wiedemann HP, Wheeler AP, Bernard GR, et al.. Comparison of two fluid-management strategies in acute lung injury. N Engl J Med 2006;354:2564–75.
- [57] The IC Society. British Consensus Guidelines on Intravenous Fluid Therapy for Adult Surgical Patients (GIFTASUP). From http://www.ics.ac.uk/downloads/2008112340_GIFTASUP/ 20FINAL 31-10-08.dpf.
- [58] Vincent JL, Baron JF, Reinhart K, et al.. ABC (Anemia and Blood Transfusion in Critical Care) Investigators. Anemia and blood transfusion in critically ill patients. JAMA 2002;288:1499–507.
- [59] The American Society of Anesthesiologists Task Force. Practice guidelines for blood component therapy (A report). Anesthesiology 1996;84:732–47.
- [60] Carson JL, Hill S, Carless P, et al.. Transfusion triggers: a systematic review of the literature. Transfus Med Rev 2002;16:187–99.
- [61] Roy A, Boweja M, Roy V, et al.. Transfusion therapy in hospitalized patients: an evidence-based approach. J Hosp Med 2006;12:1–38.
- [62] Carson JL, Terrin ML, Barton FB, et al.. A pilot randomized trial comparing symptomatic vs. haemoglobin-level-driven red blood cell transfusions following hip fracture. Transfusion 1998;38:522–9.
- [63] Carson JL, Noveck H, Berlin JA, et al.. Mortality and morbidity in patients with very low postoperative Hb levels who decline blood transfusion. Transfusion 2002;42:812–8.
- [64] Herbert PC, Wells G, Blajchman MA, et al.. Transfusion requirements in critical care investigators, Canadian Critical Care Trials Group. A multicenter, randomized, controlled clinical trial of transfusion requirements in critical care. N Engl J Med 1999;340:409–17.
- [65] Hebert PC, Yetisir E, Martin C, et al.. Transfusion Requirements in Critical Care Investigators for the Canadian Critical Care Trials Group. Is a low transfusion threshold safe in critically ill patients with cardiovascular diseases? Crit Care Med 2001;29:227–34.